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The historic structures of the Boley, Oklahoma, Historic District are as follows:

Antioch Baptist Church - Originally built in 1905 and then reconstructed on the same sitd
in 1929 by W. L. Jones, this red bark-textured brick church has wood windows with col-
ored glass. Its concrete basement walls are treated with stucco, and a bell tower sits
atop the building.

Oliver Building - Built in 1910, this building was originally used as a grocery and feed
store. It is now a Masonic Lodge. Built of native stone with a wood and glass front, it
has plastered walls, a concrete floor, and a corrugated iron canopy.

Watson Building - The lower part of this building was built in 1915 and served as a gro-
cery store. The upper part of the structure was built in 1920 and was o hotel managed
by Tom Williamson. Presently the entire structure is used as an American Legion Hotel.
It is two stories with reinforced concrete, a wood and glass front, and wood double-hung
windows. The lower story is stone while the upper part is red brick.

Cozine Building - Built in 1910, this one story concrete block structure was originally a
grocery store but is presently a pool hall. It has a wood and glass front with a concrete
floor.

T. L. Wood Building - Originally a dry goods store and presently the town's City Hall,
this one story red brick structure has o wood and glass front and concrete floor.

Masonic Hall - Built in 1915 as the Masonic Hall, this building is presently the town's
Post Office. Originally three stories, it is now a one story structure whose old window
openings are filled with concrete block. The north side is red brick while the south side
is brick and concrete with metal windows.

Farmers and Merchants Bank Building - Built about 1920, this one story red brick structurg
with a wood and glass front has buff brick and limestone trim. It operated as the Farmers
and Merchants Bank until 1932 when it was robbed by part of the Pretty Boy Floyd Gang.
It was reorganized in 1932 as the Farmers State Bank and functioned as such until 1962.
It is presently a warehouse.

Turner's Pharmacy Building ~ Built in 1910, this building was a pharmacy but is presently
vacant. [t is one story, ornamented with a front of steel beam over wood and glass. [t
is red brick with buttered mortar joints. The ceiling is stamped metal and the walls are
plaster. The floor is wood as is the frame of the roof.

T. M. Haynes Building - Built in 1909, this building was originally a mercantile estab-
lishment on the Tower floor and a telephone office and rooming house on the upper floor.

It is presently occupied by the M. W. Lee Manufacturing Company. Originally having
a wood and glass front, it is presently red brick with buff brick trim.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Boley, Oklahoma, located in the central part of Okfuskee County, is an all black
town founded in 1903. The town, named for a white official of the Fort Smith and West+
ern Railway who had encouraged its development, began as a camp of black railroad con
struction hands. The townsite was a propitious one for starting an all black community
because it was located on fertile farm land which had been allotted to the Creek-Freed-
men. Many of these families, the Barnetts, Walkers, Graysons, and Johnsons to name a
few, became the new town's leading citizens. Thomas M. Haynes was chosen as the
townsite manager, and the town building began on 160 acres which belonged to Abigail
Barnett McCormick who inherited the land from her father James Barnett, a Creek-Freed
man. Additions were made to the original site until it comprised about three hundred
acres.

W

By means of a massive advertising campaign, T. M. Haynes publicly announced thy
purposes of the town and invited blacks to come and settle there. Boley was portrayed
as a haven from oppression and a place where blacks could govern themselves. Black
people from Georgia, Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida began mov-
ing to Boley and on September 22, 1904, a formal opening of the town was held. On
March 30, 1905, T. M. Haynes, H. C. Cavil, and Hilliard Taylor presented a petition
for incorporation signed by 200 of Boley's citizens to the Western District of the Federal
Court at Salpulpa. The petition was heard and granted on May 10th and immediately
thereafter the first election of town officials was held. Mr. T. B. Armstrong was elected
mayor; Mr. James Watkins, clerk; and Mr. T. R. Ringo, city justice. The election was
enthusiastically supported by the town's inhabitants, many of whom had never been able
to participate in a political process before. Booker T. Washington, after a visit to Bo-
ley in 1905, declared that it was, "the most enterprising, and in many ways the most
interesting of the Negro towns in the United States.” The Boley Progress, the town's
first newspaper, did much to sustain interest in the city's growth and prosperity. New
residents continued to arrive and settle in Boley until the Commercial Club of Boley in
its booklet, Facts About Boley, Oklahoma, was able to boast of a town population of
4,000 in 1917, Boley's commercial district in 1911 included one bank (the number later
grew to three); five grocery stores; five hotels; seven restaurants; four cotton gins; three
drug stores; one jewelry store; four department stores; two livery stables; two insurance
agencies; an undertaking establishment; one lumber yard; two photographers; and an ice
plant, to name only some of the town's businesses. The sidewalks throughout the city
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7. DESCRIPTION - page 2

Boley Bank and Trust Company Building - Constructed between 1906 and 1907, this building
was originally a bank and is presently a cafe on the lower level with living quarters on the

upper. It is two stories constructed with rock on the lower portion and red brick on the up-
per. There is a porch on the second story that stretches out over the sidewalk and the win-
dows and door of the second floor are arched.

Frame Church Building - Built in 1904, this building was originally the site of the first
school and community church in Boley being operated alternately by the Methodist and the
Baptist denominations. |t is presently the town's Christian Church. Wood framed with
dropped siding, it has a pitched roof with roll roofing over wood shingles. The windows are
point-topped and although most of the bell tower is gone, the lower portion remains with
stone and concrete steps at the base of the tower.

Tieul Clothing Store Building - Built in 1921 as a clothing store, the building retains that
function to the present, It is red brick with a stucco front. Its metal cornice and modern
canopy were added later,

Site of Old Utility Plant - Although no longer extant, the power plant for the town was
housed on this site and was a coal burning boiler whose steam provided electricity for lights
and water pump. The destroyed building also housed the jail and the garage for the fire
truck. While the site is vacant now plans are under way to construct a new jail and fire
truck garage there.

Water Tower - Built in 1921 and no longer in use, this 80 foot high tower with a tank is sup-

ported by four trussed steel legs braced with sway bars, The tank is cone shaped on top and
round on the botfom. The supply line from the bottom of the tank is exposed as are the bell
and spigot pipe. The entire structure is painted silver.

The proposed boundaries for the 34.5 acre Boley, Oklahoma Historic District are as follows[
Northern Boundary - Seward Avenue

Eastern Boundary - Cedar Street
Southern Boundary - Original southern boundary of city limits
Western Boundary -  Walnut Street

These fourteen structures, constructed between 1903 and 1921 are all that remain of the
original business district of old Boley. The recent growth of the town has had little, if
any, effect upon the character of the old business district. It is still considered by many
of the town's senior residents to be as much the same as before.
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8. SIGNIFICANCE - page 2

were constructed with cement and the streets were well lighted by the town's electic light
plant. Outside the commercial area of Boley, the fown's citizens were chiefly engaged in
farming and stock raising for domestic use. Cotton was the greatest money product although
corn, sweet and Irish potatoes were also grown in abundance. Horses, mules, hogs, and
cattle were raised principally for home use.

Boley's social institutions and public buildings included numerous churches, schools,
including a training school for black boys, and a Masonic Temple to which all black Masond
in the state made a yearly pilgrimage. The assessed value of personal property, real estate,
and corporations for the year 1911 was as follows: Personal property, $84,170; Real Estate,
$232,254; Corporations, $37,700.

Even though Boley was an all black town and devoted to the betterment of the race, at
no time was it isolated from the larger community of Oklahoma or the nation. As the voting
strength of Boleyites grew, they began to have a marked effect on the outcome of elections
in their immediate area and the state at large. In many elections they held the balance of
power. Most Boley residents were Republicans in a Democratic territory and, when their
power became greater than whites wished it to be, they were disenfranchised by the institu-
tion of the notorious "grandfather clause "which Oklahoma added as an emendment to its
State Constitution in 1910. This constitutional provision exempted from literacy tests all
persons and lineal descendants of all persons who had the right of franchise as of January 1,
1866. Since almost all blacks were nonvoters on that date, literacy tests would in effect
only be applicable to them. Political strife, in fact near riots, occurred as Boleyites sough
to defend their right to vote and their right to self-government. The question as to whether
or not this state provision met the federal test of constitutionality under the Fifteenth Amend-
ment was decided by the Supreme Court in 1915. The Court, in Guinn and Beal v. United
States, ruled Oklahoma's law unconstitutional. The state, bloody but unbowed, countered
by a 1916 statute requiring that all persons who had been previously denied the franchise
register within a twelve~day period. This law again, obviously applied only to blacks and
because it was clearly designed to keep blacks from the polls, it too was declared unconsti+
tutional in a Supreme Court decision, Lane v. Wilson, in 1939,

The failure of the cotton crops in the 1920s caused great economic difficulties for Boley
in the 1920s. Many residents moved away and the migration of new residents came to a
standstill. The crop failure, coupled with the Depression of the 1930s, dealt Boley a blow
from which it never recovered. During the 1930s, times were so bleak for Boleyites that the
population dwindled to about a thousand inhabitants as many of its townspeople moved to
seek work in the nearby cities.
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8. SIGNIFICANCE - page 3

On November 22, 1932, Boley was involved in an unsuccessful attempt by a contingent
of Pretty Boy Floyd's gang to rob the Farmers and Merchants Bank. The robbers, two white
and one black, killed the bank president, D. J. Turner. They were in turn killed by H. C.
McComick, the bank's Assistant Cashier, and by officers and vigilantes who had assembled
outside the bank. H. C. McCormick, who is still living as of this writing, later became a
mayor of Boley.

In recent years, major events in Boley have included the World Championship Rodeo
which has been held each June since 1961, and an annual September celebration to com-
memorate the founding of Boley. Boley now has a population of between 500 and 600 resi-
dents but its Chamber of Commerce and town officials are optimistic for the future as they
seek to rebuild and preserve Boley.

Boley is of national historical significance because it is representative of the many
towns established by blacks who migrated from the South to northern and western communi-
ties in hopes of escaping oppression and making new lives for themselves. It was the largest
of the exclusively black towns in Oklahoma and probably the largest all black town in the
United States. Boley's political strength was a major factor in Oklahoma's adoption of an
amendment to its constitution disen franchising blacks. This law later lead to the historic
Supreme Court decision in 1915, Guinn and Beal v. United States, declaring acts to disen-
franchise blacks unconstitutional under the provisions of the Fifteenth Amendment. Boley,
begun in an era of black oppression and segregation, is a symbol of the sacrifices and efforts

of its early pioneers who sought to demonstrate the ability of black men to govern them-
selves.
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